IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2008-CA-00028

CLAUDINE BROWN

APPELLANT

V.

PROGRESSIVE GULF INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES W. NOBLES, JR., MSB 201 CLINTON PARKWAY CLINTON, MISSISSIPPI 39056 TELEPHONE: (601) 926-1912 TELECOPIER: (601) 926-1914

JAMES K. LITTLETON, MSB 402 EAST MARKET STREET GREENWOOD, MISSISSIPPI, 38935

TRAVIS T. VANCE, JR. MSB 914 GROVE STREET VICKSBURG, MISSISSIPPI, 39180

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANTS

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2008-CA-00028

CLAUDINE BROWN

APPELLANT

٧.

PROGRESSIVE GULF INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The Circuit Court of Yazoo County erred in granting Summary Judgment to Progressive Gulf Insurance Company and denying Brown's Motion for Summary Judgment, holding that no coverage existed under Progressive Gulf Insurance Company's automobile liability insurance policy because the named insured was not liable under agency, joint venture or vicarious liability theories where coverage existed on the non-owned truck and trailer which was being used at the time of the wreck in question to carry out the business of the insured and where the facts are undisputed that coverage for non-owned vehicles was bound by Progressive's agent to comply with specific requirements of a contract between its insured and a third party, requiring automobile liability coverage for hired and non-owned vehicles used by the insured in the furtherance of its business.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW PERTINENT FACTS

The wrongful death beneficiaries and the Estate of Charles T. Brown, Deceased, filed suit in the Circuit Court of Yazoo County, Mississippi, against the Estate of Jesse Woods and Frances McLean, the driver and owner of an 18 wheeler log truck, for the wrongful death of Brown which occurred on November 2, 2005 in Warren County, Mississippi. Subsequently, Brown filed several amended complaints making allegations that Scott Penn, Inc., was liable as a joint venturer with McLean as to the logs which were delivered to International Paper Company's woodyard at Redwood, Mississippi by McLean's truck and trailer driven by Jesse Woods. The head-on collision occurred less than a mile north of IP's woodyard after Woods had delivered a load of logs to International Paper for Scott Penn, Inc.'s account under Penn's Master Wood Producer Contract with IP. Brown amended the Complaint seeking a Declaratory Judgment that Progressive Gulf's policy provided coverage to McLean and Woods for the death of Brown.

After extensive discovery, and shortly before the case was to be tried on the liability and damage issues, both Brown and Progressive filed Motions for Summary Judgment as to the coverage vel non, provided by the Progressive Gulf policy to Scott Penn, Inc., for hired and non-owned vehicles, of which McLean's was one. The Court Granted Progressive Gulf Summary Judgment that in order for coverage to apply, Scott Penn, Inc., had to be held liable, either as a master, joint venturer, or vicariously as exercising the right of control over McLean, Woods and the vehicle that Woods was driving. The Court denied Brown's Motion for Summary Judgment holding that no coverage existed under the Progressive policy.

Brown filed a timely Notice of Appeal, and Designation of Contents of Record on Appeal, and filed the requisite Certificate of Compliance under Rule 11(b) of the Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court erred in Granting Summary Judgment to Progressive Gulf Insurance Company that no coverage existed under the insurance policy in question because Scott Penn, Inc., was not primarily or secondarily liable as a master or joint venturer because:

- Ed Sanford Insurance Agency was a duly authorized agent for Progressive Gulf
 Insurance Company who possessed apparent and binding authority, both by actions
 and by agency contract with Progressive; (R 923-930) (RE 8)
- 2. Sanford exercised that binding authority and caused automobile liability insurance coverages to be issued by Progressive Gulf Insurance Company to Scott Penn, Inc., to cover the liability insurance requirements of a Master Wood Producers Agreement with International Paper Company which required that all trucks and trailers used to transport wood to IP's woodyards to Scott Penn's account under the Master Wood Producers Agreement, be insured for automobile liability insurance with limits of at least \$1,000,000., whether such vehicles were owned, hired or non-owned vehicles. (R. 1083) (RE 9).
- Progressive Gulf Insurance Company's policy issued to S & S Trucking, Inc., and Scott Penn, Inc., contains no definition of "hired vehicles" and is therefore, ambiguous. (R 1958).
- 4. Progressive Gulf Insurance Company issued, retroactively, an endorsement to the Scott Penn, Inc., policy adding Jesse Woods as an insured driver, and charging Scott Penn, Inc., for the accident in question as a covered under the policy. (R936) (RE 10)

- 5. At the time of the fatal collision, the non-owned truck and trailer, were being used in the furtherance of the business of Scott Penn, Inc., which was covered under the policy. (R117, 118, 119, 120, 933, 935,) (RE 11)
- 6. Progressive further acknowledged that its Agent, Ed Sanford Insurance Agency, had bound coverage where it filed suit against the Agent in Federal Court alleging that the agent negligently bound coverage for the loss in question; (R923-930).
- 7. Progressive Gulf Insurance Company authorized its agents to issue and bind coverage to specifically address the requirements of International Paper Company's contracts with wood producers who utilized non-owned and hired vehicles to deliver wood to IP. (R.936-938 Letter from Tony Dengel to Agents with attached underwriting guidelines) (RE 12).
- The Certificates of Insurance to International Paper Company by Progressive's agent,
 Sanford, showing hired and non-owned vehicle coverages; (R116,918)
- 9. Documents from Progressive Gulf Insurance Company's files which include:
 - (a) retroactive endorsements adding Jesse Woods as an insured driver and the endorsement accepting the wreck as a covered accident and surcharging Scott Penn, Inc for coverage extended to the wreck in question; (R 795, 936); (RE 13).
 - (b) Progressive's Commercial Auto Product Manager's letter to Progressive Agents allowing them to bind and write hired and non-owned vehicle coverages for logging accounts such as Scott Penn, Inc., under the circumstances extant in this case;, where the hired or non-owned vehicles were to be used to deliver logs to the mill, in the furtherance of the contract and business of the insured; (R-937-939)

(c) Progressive's admission by its allegations against its agent in Federal Court which claim that Ed Sanford Insurance Agency had both binding and apparent authority to bind coverages, that Ed Sanford Insurance Agency negligently bound coverage for hired and non-owned vehicles for Scott Penn, Inc., under the S & S Trucking, Inc., Progressive Gulf Insurance Company Policy # 2601592-1 used in the furtherance of the business of Scott Penn, Inc. (R-923-930).

All these undisputed facts add up the policy in question providing coverage to Brown for the death of Mr. Brown and the damages flowing from his death in the wreck caused by Jesse Woods while he was driving Frances McLean's truck and trailer, both "non-owned vehicles", which had just delivered a load of wood to International Paper Company, credited to and for which Scott Penn, Inc., was paid by International Paper Company under the Master Wood Producers Agreement.

Progressive provided coverage to cover Scott Penn, Inc.'s contractual obligations under the Master Wood Producers Agreement (R. 976-978). Prevailing Mississippi Law requires that coverage be found to exist per Mississippi Farm Bureau Insurance Company v Todd. 492 So2d 119 (Miss. 1986) and the cases cited therein.

FACTS PRECLUDING ENTRY OF MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND SUPPORTING BROWN'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS TO COVERAGE

On November 3, 2005, Jesse Woods was driving a International Tractor pulling a log type trailer, which was owned by Frances McLean, and which was being used in connection with fulfilling

Scott Penn, Inc.'s wood producer contract with International Paper Company. Both the truck and the trailer which were being driven by Jesse Woods were "non-owned" vehicles under Scott Penn, Inc.'s Progressive Gulf Insurance Company policy. Woods collided head-on with a truck and trailer being driven by Charles T. Brown on Mississippi Highway 3, just North of the International Paper Company Redwood, Mississippi, mill wood yard in Warren County, Mississippi. Both Jesse Woods and Charles T. Brown were killed by the violent head-on collision between the two 18 wheelers.

Scott Penn, Inc., purchased automobile liability insurance from Ed Sanford Insurance Agency, Carthage, Mississippi, for the period from April, 2005 through April, 2006 for its owned trucks and trailers which were scheduled on each policy issued by Progressive and for hired and non-owned vehicle coverage required by the International Paper Company's Master Wood Producer Agreement which Scott Penn, Inc., had entered into with International Paper Company. Unknown to Scott Penn, Inc., and its employees and officers, the Sanford Insurance Agency issued policies in the names of fictitious corporations, one of which was S & S Trucking, Inc., because Progressive Gulf Insurance Company's underwriting guidelines allowed only ten tractor trailer units to be listed on any one policy. However, such fact is not important because Scott Penn, Inc., was named as an additional named insured on each and every policy. Under the Insurance Agency producers agreement, between Ed Sanford Insurance Agency and Progressive, the Sanford Agency had authority to bind and issue automobile liability insurance coverages in the State of Mississippi, and possessed apparent authority to act for and on behalf of Progressive Gulf Insurance Company. (Progressive Gulf Insurance Company's Amended Complaint, U. S. District Court Southern District of Mississippi, Jackson Division, Cause No. 3:06-CV-00457, ¶ 7 & 8) (R.923-930) (RE 14).

As a wood producer under its Master Wood Purchase and Service Agreement Contract

Walnut .

with International Paper Company, Scott Penn, Inc., was obligated to sell and deliver and/or cut, convert and/or transport certain species of wood to IP at delivery points and wood yards designated by International Paper Company Buyer for prices set for specific blocks of time and for certain species of wood, which were specified by a purchase order. (R976-981) (RE 15).

The Master Wood Producer Agreement between International Paper Company and Scott Penn, Inc., Penn was specifically obligated to:

- 1). furnish a sufficient number of safe and operationally sound tractors, trailers, and other transportation equipment of sufficient capacity,
 - 2.) which were licensed, and *insured*, competent drivers

Paragraph 12 on page 2 of the Master Wood Purchase and Service Agreement reads:

12. <u>Insurance</u>: Seller(Scott Penn, Inc.) shall carry, with insurers satisfactory to Buyer, (International Paper Company) during the term hereof, Auto Liability Insurance, including either "owned, hired and non-owned vehicles" or "hired, non-owned and scheduled vehicles" with limits of not less than \$1,000,000, combined single limit, for both bodily injury liability and property damage liability each occurrence.....

Prior to commencing operations hereunder, a Certificate of Insurance evidencing such coverage, satisfactory to Buyer, shall be furnished to Buyer, which shall specifically state that such insurance shall provide for at least ten (10) days' notice to Buyer in the event of cancellation or any material change in such insurance policies. .(R.978),(RE 16)

Scott Penn, Inc., was therefore required to carry at least \$1 million in automobile liability insurance coverage on all trucks and trailers which were "owned", or "hired" or "non-owned" used to transport wood sold by Scott Penn, Inc., in the furtherance of its business in fulfilling its Master Wood Producer Contract with International Paper Company.

Scott Penn, Inc., purchased what Scott Penn, its President and Chief Officer, thought to be the requisite coverages from Ed Sanford Insurance Agency. (R521, 522) (RE 17). On April 5,

2005, A Certificate of Insurance was sent by Ed Sanford Insurance Agency to International Paper Company showing Scott Penn, Inc., was insured, under Policy No. 2601592-1 showing "Progressive" as the insurer and showing the policy period to be April 04, 2005 to April 4, 2006, with Automobile Liability Insurance Limits of \$1,000,000. This certificate of insurance showed coverages for scheduled autos, hired autos, and non-owned autos and was signed by Gwen Hoffman, an authorized person with Ed Sanford Insurance Agency. (R.918) (RE 18) Another Certificate of Insurance dated July 18, 2005, and signed by Akemie Willis, showing the same information, was sent by the Sanford Insurance Agency to International Paper Company. (R.116) (RE 19).

It is undisputed that Master Wood Purchase and Service Agreement with International Paper Company was provided by Scott Penn, Inc. to Ed Sanford Insurance Agency. As such Progressive, through its agent Sanford, knew that coverage was required for "hired and non-owned vehicle coverages" under the IP Contract. Scott Penn, Inc., was required by the contract to provide evidence of such coverages, and that if the certificates did not contain the exact same required coverages Scott Penn, Inc., would not have been allowed to do business with International Paper Company. Penn bought the insurance coverage from Ed Sanford Insurance Agency and Progressive to comply with the IP Contract. Penn further stated that it had wood producer business with other companies which had the same auto liability insurance requirements.

Had Scott Penn, Inc. not had hired and non-owned vehicle coverage in force on November 3, 2005, the load of logs aboard the truck and trailer owned by Frances McLean and driven by Henry Woods would not have been allowed to enter International Paper Company's wood yard to deliver logs to Scott Penn, Inc.'s account. (R 922) (RE 20).

Penn described McLean as one of a group of people with whom he did business as "Gate

Wooders". Gate Wooders and Scott Penn, Inc., operated under an arrangement and procedure was as follows:

- a. Scott Penn would issue an Authorization Card given him by International Paper Company to McLean. The load of wood, identified as being wood produced by Scott Penn. Inc., and listing its contract number, and the truck and trailer on which it was loaded would not be permitted to pass the gate of IP into the wood yard without the Authorization Card. The driver of the truck hauling the load of wood hands the authorization card to the gate house and he is allowed to enter the wood yard to deliver the wood. (R.117) (RE 21).
- b. the authorization card Identifies the load of wood as belonging to Scott Penn, Inc. It bears Contract: CG164, which is the Purchase Order) Number issued to Scott Penn, Inc. by International Paper Company. (R 117.) (RE. 21)
- c. The wood yard gate house then issues a Fiber Unloading Document which bears the ticket number (510653) date and time the truck and trailer entered the wood yard, (11/08/2005 14:16:56); the primary contract number, (CG164) the name of the vendor, (Scott Penn, Inc.) the weight of the truck, trailer and wood delivered, (69740 pounds); the Species (mixed hardwood; the product (long pulpwood); the tract (Green); the price code (03) and the scaler's name.(J. Burton). (R 117) (RE. 21)
- d. International Paper Company prepares and prints a Scale ticket after the truck and trailer are weighed again to determine the net weight of the wood delivered. This Scale Ticket printed: it contains the ticket number, primary contract number, vendor's name, species; product; tract and price code. It also contains a trailer ID number which, here, was 4024T-8, It shows the producer's name, and the date in and date out and the inbound and outbound weight of the truck and

trailer. The net weight of the wood delivered (here 20.97 ton) (R.117) (RE 21).

- e. After delivery International Paper Company' pays Scott Penn, Inc for the wood delivered. A Scale Ticket Listing is provided periodically to Scott Penn by IP showing the date of delivery, the scale ticket number, and the weight, which allows Scott Penn, Inc., to determine the weight of the wood delivered. (R. 118) (RE 22)
- f. International Paper Company then pays Scott Penn, Inc., for the wood delivered accompanied by a "Wood Settlement Statement" identifying each load of wood by scale ticket number, contract number, price, location delivered, date received, the vehicle number on which it was delivered, and the dollar value of the load delivered. On the Wood Settlement Statement for 11/05/2005 through 11/08/2005, payment for the 10 loads of wood delivered by McLean's truck and trailer no. 4024T-8 were paid to Scott Penn, Inc. (R.119) (RE 23).
- g. After receiving payment from IP, Scott Penn, Inc., compensated itself, \$1.00 per ton for each ton of wood delivered by McLean to IP, and paid the balance of the proceed over to Frances McLean on 11/11/2005. (R.120) (RE 24). The "Gate Wooders" arrangement and method of doing business was in furtherance of the business of Scott Penn, Inc., under its wood producer contract with International Paper Company.

The fatal wreck occurred on November 8, 2005 while all of Scott Penn, Inc.'s automobile liability insurance Policies with Progressive Gulf Insurance Company, including Policy No. 2601592-1 were in full force and effect.

Even though Progressive Gulf Insurance Company denied that the polices provided automobile liability coverage to Frances McLean and Jesse Woods for the non-owned vehicle Woods was driving at the time of the accident in question, on March 14, 2006, approximately four

months after suit was filed in this cause, Progressive's Policy Service Commercial Vehicle Division sent issued to S&S Trucking, Inc., an endorsement adding Jesse Woods, an unlisted operator, retroactively to the policy for the wreck in question and that a surcharge would be added to the policy for the 11/08/05 loss. (R. 936) (RE 25). Progressive further issued a written document Bates Stamped (000001609) which is addressed to

S & S Trucking, Inc., Date 03/14/06, Policy Number CA 02601592-1, Insured S & S Trucking, Inc.

Dear S & S Trucking Inc, A LOSS OCCURRED ON THE ABOVE REFERENCED POLICY ON 11/08/05. OUR INVESTIGATION REVEALED THAT THE DRIVER AT THE TIME OF THE LOSS WAS JESSE WOODS, AN UNLISTED OPERATOR. WE HAVE ADDED THIS DRIVER TO THE POLICY ALONG WITH A SURCHARGE FOR THE ACCIDENT......

THANK YOU, PROGRESSIVE POLICY SERVICE, COMMERCIAL VEHICLE DIVISION....

Progressive Gulf Insurance Company's Commercial Auto Product Manager for Mississippi accounts, Tony Dengel, sent a Letter to the Progressive Agents in Mississippi with the heading Re: Hired/Non-Owned exceptions for Logging Accounts. (Progressive Documents No. 000003535-3536 and 000002449) (R 937-939). Progressive specifically recognized the necessity for automobile liability insurance coverage for hired and non-owned vehicles under International Paper Company contracts with wood producers such as Scott Penn, Inc. This letter and the underwriting guidelines which are attached to it specifically and unequivocally recognized that Mississippi wood producers were required to furnish such insurance for "Logging risk where Hired Auto and Non Owned is required for accessing pickup or delivery sites.", which the wood producer utilizes to allow the

wheel and hired vehicles to pick up and deliver logs to the destination and that Progressive its were authorized to bind and write such coverages. Progressive Document No. 000003535, t. 938).

Neither the truck nor the trailer owned by Frances McLean and driven by Jesse Woods to aul logs into International Paper Company's yard on the date of the fatal wreck in question had primary automobile liability insurance on them. Frances McLean owned the truck and trailer. (R. 941-942, Certificates of Title,) R 755, 756 McLean Dep. 135, 136, 137-140). She testified that she was operating under Scott Penn. Inc.'s contract (which required Penn to have liability insurance for non-owned vehicles) and his liability insurance because neither she nor Jesse Woods would be allowed to haul loads into International Paper Company without being insured (R 731-732) (RE 26).

Progressive's 30(b)(6) designee testified that if the International Paper Company Master Wood Producer Agreement Contract with Scott Penn, Inc. required Penn to have hired and non-owned vehicle coverage for any truck and trailer that entered IP's wood yard, and the non-owned vehicles were being used as a part of Scott Penn, Inc.'s business, these vehicles would be covered under the Progressive policy.. (Depo. Scullin, pp 6 &7) (R. 1083). (RE 27).

Progressive also issued an endorsement to Policy # 02601592-1 dated March 15, 2006 which listed Jesse Woods as an insured driver. (R 536) (RE 28)

6. Progressive Gulf Insurance Company's Policy # 2601592-1, is attached to Record Excepts (RE 29) and in contained in the record at pages 678-709.

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