#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-CA-00028

CLAUDINE BROWN, INDIVIDUALLY AND AS ADMINISTRATRIX OF THE ESTATE OF CHARLES BROWN, DECEASED, AND ON BEHALF OF ALL WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF CHARLES BROWN, DECEASED

APPELLANT

VS.

f

#### PROGRESSIVE GULF INSURANCE COMPANY

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Given the crippling, undisputed facts that neither the vehicle nor the driver appear in any way, shape, or form on any Progressive Gulf policy, the Browns' present claim for coverage is premised on a number of highly creative theories. They first say a Certificate of Insurance provided by Progressive Gulf's agent, Ed Sanford Agency ("Sanford") to International Paper creates "hired" and "non-owned auto" coverages on the SPI policy(ies), that the McLean-owned vehicle was "hired" and "non-owned," and that coverage therefore attaches. *See* Appellants' Brief. The circuit court correctly concluded, however, that under the plain language of the policies at issue, the McLean-owned vehicle was neither "hired" nor "non-owned," even assuming such coverages were provided in the policy(ies).<sup>4</sup>

The Browns then argue that the "hired" and "non-owned" coverages should be extended *beyond the policy language*, ultimately urging that the SPI-IP Master Wood Producer Agreement – not the insurance policy – defines and exponentially expands "hired" and "non-owned" coverage to create benefits to the Browns. *Id.* This far-fetched theory not only ignores the policy language, but it connected to any recognized legal cause of action.

Finally, the Browns argue that the fact that Progressive Gulf has sought legal redress against its agent for issuing an unauthorized certificate of insurance legally estops Progressive Gulf from denying coverage to the Browns. *Id.* Again, no cogent, legally-rooted theory is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> All thirteen policies referenced in the Fourth Amended Complaint (¶ 5), are based on the same underlying policy form and endorsements. *See* Mississippi Commercial Auto Policy Agreement (R. 678-708) (R.E. 33-63). However, the certificate(s) of insurance provided to IP reference only one of these policies, policy number 2601592-1, which was issued to S&S Trucking, Inc., a related entity to SPI (hereinafter the "SPI policy"). *See* Certificates of Liability Insurance (R. 116, 918) (R.E. 65-66).

offered for this argument, and the Browns wholly mistate the basis for Progressive Gulf's case against the agent.

The Browns *conceded* there is no employer/employee relationship between Woods and SPI and that no joint venture or relationship between McLean and SPI. Accordingly, the only named insured under any policy in issue, SPI, was dismissed as a defendant with consent from the Browns' counsel. As SPI was not liable, SPI's liability insurance policies cannot be triggered to provide coverage in favor of Woods or McLean, who are not insureds. Moreover, the log truck operated by Woods, and owned by McLean, was not a listed vehicle on any of the policies. Nor was Woods (or McLean for that matter) a listed driver on any SPI policy.

Ultimately because the clear policy language fails them, the Browns divert to alternative theories attempting to stretch this Court to conclusions well beyond established Mississippi jurisprudence. The Browns cannot create insurance where there is none. The trial court properly granted judgment in favor of Progressive Gulf.

#### ARGUMENT AND LEGAL ANALYSIS

#### I. <u>The Standard of Review</u>

When reviewing a trial court's grant of summary judgment, this Court employs a *de novo* standard of review. *See Stewart v. Lofton Timber Co., LLC*, 943 So. 2d 729, 733 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (citing *Hudson v. Courtesy Motors, Inc.,* 794 So. 2d 999, 1002 (Miss.2001)). "Summary judgment is proper 'if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." *Id.* (citing M.R.C.P. 56(c)).

"If the moving party shows a complete failure of proof on an essential element of the claim . . . , then the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." *Keszenheimer v. Boyd*, 897 So. 2d 190, 193 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) (citing *Galloway v. The Travelers Ins. Co.*, 515 So. 2d 678, 683 (Miss.1987)). *See also Grisham v. John Q. Long V.F.W. Post No. 4057 Inc.*, 519 So. 2d 413, 415-16 (Miss.1988).

#### II. <u>The trial court properly granted summary judgment in favor of Progressive Gulf</u> because there are no genuine issues of material fact in dispute as to coverage for the November 8, 2005 accident under the policies at issue.

The trial court granted judgment in favor of Progressive Gulf because there were no genuine issues of material fact in dispute as to the claims of coverage under the policies insuring SPI at issue. *See* Order (R. 1101-02). The policy terms are clear, express, and unambiguous, and the facts are not in dispute. Summary judgment was properly granted in favor of Progressive Gulf, and the Browns' cross-motion was properly denied.



Progressive Gulf's insured, SPI, had no liability under *respondeat superior* because Woods was not an employee of SPI, and therefore, coverage cannot be invoked through the only named insured, SPI.

Realizing there was no viable theory of recovery against SPI for the November 8, 2005 accident, the Browns confessed SPI's motion for summary judgment and agreed to entry of a final judgment with prejudice. *See* Agreed Order Granting Summary and Final Judgment in favor of Defendant Scott Penn, Inc. (R. 1020-21) (R.E. 27-28). Once SPI, the insured under the policies at issue, was dismissed (by consent of the Browns), Progressive Gulf's potential obligation of coverage disappeared. The trial court properly recognized that "without the liability of Scott Penn, there's no issue as to whether or not Progressive should be liable as far as . . . insurance coverage on this incident." *See* Dec. 14, 2007 Order (R. 1101-02) (R.E. 29-30).

#### B. McLean and Woods are not "insureds" under the policy

The Browns now assert, however, that no link to SPI is necessary to obtain coverage under SPI's policy because both Woods and McLean<sup>5</sup> are "insureds" in their own right. The Browns urge this Court to find that McLean and Woods – who were neither named insureds nor listed in any capacity on any policy at issue – are "insureds" through "Hired Auto Coverage" and/or "Non-Ownership Liability Rider" provisions.<sup>6</sup>

#### (i) <u>The "non-owned auto" coverage</u>

The Browns argue that the McLean-owned vehicle operated by Woods is a "non-owned" auto. But coverage does not and cannot trigger under the "non-owned" endorsement because

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> McLean, admittedly had no insurance on the truck or her driver at the time of this accident. See Frances McLean depo., p. 34:1-2 (R. 730) (R.E. 76).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Certificates of insurance provided by Progressive Gulf's agent to International Paper showed "hired" and "non-owned" coverage to be in effect. (R. 116, 918) (R.E. 65-55). Progressive Gulf did not authorize its agent to issue this certificate of insurance. But even accepting the Browns' argument that SPI's policies had "hired" and "non-owned" coverage, the express terms of the policy exclude coverage as to McLean and Woods.

In a separate filed in federal court, Progressive Gulf has challenged the propriety of its agent's actions in providing these certificates without first obtaining written authorization from Progressive Gulf as required by the contract governing the relationship between Progressive Gulf and its agent. (R. 923-931) (R.E. 12-20).

*Woods was not an employee of the named insured*, which is one requirement for coverage under this endorsement. The trial court correctly found that this fact was fatal to the Browns' claim for coverage under "non-owned" endorsement. (T. at 90).

The Employers Non-Ownership Liability Rider provides as follows:

"We agree with you that the insurance provided under the Bodily Injury and Property Damage Coverages of the Policy for your insured auto applies to any non-owned auto used in your business **by any of your employees** subject to the following provisions:

Insureds. The "insured" provisions under the Bodily Injury and Property Damage Coverages apply to the insurance provided by this endorsement *except* that **none of the following is an insured with respect to a non-owned auto**:

#### a. the <u>owner</u> of a non-owned auto <u>and any agent or employee of that</u> <u>owner</u>. *Hol Hol* work when helped SPL? This wo *Construction*

See SPI policy, pp. 36-37 (emphasis added). (R. 698) (R.E. 53). To implicate coverage under this endorsement, there are three necessary elements: (1) a "non-owned auto," (2) used in the business of SPI, and (3) operated by an employee of SPI. Coverage cannot trigger here because Woods was not an employee of SPI, and the Browns conceded as much.<sup>7</sup>

As support for their argument that the McLean-owned/Woods-operated vehicle is a "nonowned auto" under the SPI policy, the Browns cite two Louisiana cases: *Green v. Freeman*, 759 So. 2d 201 (La. Ct. App. 2005) and *Huddleston v. Luther*, 897 So. 2d 887 (La. Ct. App. 2005). However, neither case supports their position. The Browns' reliance on *Huddleston* is erroneous



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> As explained earlier, the Browns initially contended in this action that SPI and McLean were engaged in a joint venture and that McLean's uninsured vehicle, driven by McLean's employee, Woods, was being used in the joint venture at the time of the accident. *See* Fourth Amended Complaint, ¶¶ 5-6 (R. 95-98) (R.E. 6-9). But, the Browns abandoned this claim and confessed SPI's motion for summary judgment. (R. 1020-21) (R.E. 27-28). The trial court properly concluded the Browns' inability to link Woods or McLean to SPI is fatal to their claim for coverage under SPI's policy.

for a number of reasons, but primarily because the driver of the purported "non-owned auto" in that case *was an employee* of the insured. *Id.* at 890. Likewise, the driver in *Green* was determined as a matter of law to be an *employee* of the insured. *Green*, 759 So. 2d at 204.

It is undisputed here that Woods was *not* an employee of the insured. And, to have coverage under the clear, unambiguous policy provision, the "non-owned" vehicle must be operated by an SPI employee. *Huddleston* and *Green*, therefore, provide more support for Progressive Gulf's position than for the Browns' position because an employer/employee relationship was a prerequisite to a finding of coverage in those cases. Just as in the policies examined in *Huddleston* and *Green*, "non-owned" coverage under the SPI policy applies only if the"non-owned" vehicle is operated by one of SPI's employees, which Woods was not.<sup>8</sup>

#### (ii) <u>Neither Woods nor McLean are "insureds" under the non-owned</u> <u>automobile endorsement</u>.

Independently, there is no coverage under the "non-owned" provision because both McLean and Woods, as the truck owner and employee, are specifically excluded from the definition of "insureds" under the unambiguous language of this provision. Again, the policy provides:

The Employers Non-Ownership Liability Rider provides as follows:

\* \* \*

Insureds. The "insured" provisions under the Bodily Injury and Property Damage Coverages apply to the insurance provided by this endorsement *except* that <u>none of the following is an insured with respect to a non-owned auto</u>:

# a. the <u>owner</u> of a non-owned auto <u>and any agent or employee of that</u> <u>owner</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> The *Huddleston* policy defined "nonowned autos" as: "Only those 'autos' you do not own, lease, hire, rent or borrow that are used in connection with your business. This *includes* 'autos' owned by your employees or partners or members of their households but only while used in your business or your personal affairs." *Huddleston*, 897 So. 2d at 889 (emphasis added). The policy at issue in *Green*, contained the same definition. *Green*, 897 So. 2d at 889.

See Policy, at pp. 36-37 (emphasis added). (R. 698) (R.E. 53). This language specifically provides that the *owner* of the truck (McLean) and the *driver who is employed by the owner* (Woods) are excluded from this coverage.<sup>9</sup> The record establishes that McLean was the owner of the vehicle and Woods was McLean's worker. *See* Certificates of Title (R. 809-10) (R.E. 31-32); Frances McLean Depo., pp. 6, 9-11 (R. 723-24) (R.E. 74-75). So under the clear terms of this provision, McLean and Woods are not "insureds" under the "non-owned" endorsement.

The Browns seem to recognize that the clear policy language in the "non-owned" provision dooms their position. They implicitly admit there is no coverage when they argue in their Brief that "... the definitions for non-owned vehicles [in the Progressive Gulf policy] do not comply with the requirements of the IP Master Wood Producer Agreement." *See* Appellant's Brief, at 18. In essence, the Browns suggest that the policy does not provide what the IP-SPI Master contract requires and, therefore, they reason, the policy language should be overlooked, ignored, or even expanded. To the contrary, the plain language of the policy precludes coverage under the "non-owned" encorsement.

#### C. The "hired auto" coverage

\* \* \*

Alternatively, the Browns assert that "hired auto" coverage provides Woods or McLean with "insured" status under the Progressive Gulf policy. The Browns contend that the term "hired auto" is undefined by the policy and, therefore, ambiguous, and they urge the Court to look beyond the language of the insuring contract to find coverage. *See* Appellant's Brief, at 13.

For this argument, the Browns cite this Court to a portion of the deposition testimony of Chris Scullin, Progressive Gulf's 30(b)(6) representative. But Mr. Scullin's testimony has been

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The policy at issue in *Huddleston*, cited by the Browns, *did not* contain this exclusionary language, which is another reason that case does not support the Browns' position.

taken out of context and mischaracterized by the Browns.<sup>10</sup> Mr. Scullin testified that the underlying policy form (Mississippi Commercial Automobile Liability Policy) (R. 678-708) (R.E. 33-63) contained no specific definition for a hired vehicle, but that "[s]ome of these booklets don't have [the hired vehicle coverage] attached. ... we'd have separate endorsements for it, and I would have to refer to that endorsement." Scullin Depo. at p. 53:22:25 (R. 958) (R.E. 80). When asked if the endorsement for hired vehicle [(R. 709) (R.E. 64)] comprised part of the SPI policy, Mr. Scullin responded, "It's not part of the policy that Progressive issued. ... But had we issued this coverage on the policy, this would be, this would have been the form." Scullin Depo. at p. 55:5-11 (emphasis added) (R. 958) (R.E. 80).<sup>11</sup>

Mr. Scullin then referred the Browns' counsel to the "hired auto" endorsement, which defines the term and expressly states:

When used in this endorsement, "hired auto" means an auto which is not owned by you, registered in your name, or borrowed from your employees and <u>which is</u> obtained under a short-term rental agreement not to exceed thirty (30) days.

See "Hired Auto Coverage," policy Form No. 1891 (11-94) (emphasis added) (R. 709) (R.E. 64). The words used in this provision are clear and ordinary and there is no ambiguity.

As a fundamental principle of contract construction, courts "are bound to enforce contract language as written and give it its plain and ordinary meaning if it is clear and unambiguous." Miss. Farm Bureau Cas. Ins. Co. v. Britt, 826 So. 2d 1261, 1265 -66 (Miss. 2002) (citing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> This is not the only instance in their Brief in which the Browns overstate or misconstrue Mr. Scullin's testimony. The Browns state "[Mr. Scullin] testified that if the [SPI-IP agreement] required [SPI] to have hired and non-owned coverage for any truck and trailer that entered IP's wood yard, and the non-owned vehicles were being used as a part of [SPI]'s business, these vehicles would be covered under the Progressive policy." *See* Appellant's Brief, at p. 12. The Browns cite the Court to pages 6 and 7 of Mr. Scullin's deposition (R. 946) (R.E. 78). However, this is not at all consistent with what Mr. Scullin testified to. (R. 946) (R.E. 78). Because there is no real support in the record for their theories, the Browns must distort the facts and evidence to fit their arguments.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> This testimony actually underscores Progressive Gulf's claims in the federal court action that its agent acted without permission and outside Progressive Gulf's knowledge by providing the certificates of insurance to IP.

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